### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JASON KING, P.E., NEVADA STATE ENGINEER, DIVISION OF WATER RESOURCES, DEPARTMENT OF CONSERVATION AND NATURAL RESOURCES,

Appellant,

vs.

RODNEY ST. CLAIR,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Dec 09 2016 02:50 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 70458

### **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

ADAM PAUL LAXALT Attorney General JUSTINA A. CAVIGLIA Deputy Attorney General Nevada Bar No. 9999 100 North Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717 T: (775) 684-1222 E: jcaviglia@ag.nv.gov Attorney for Nevada State Engineer

#

#### I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the April 22, 2016, final order of the district court granting Respondent's Petition for Judicial Review, which was served on April 29, 2016. Joint Appendix (JT APP) at 805. Jurisdiction is proper pursuant to NRAP 3A(a) and 3A(b)(1), and NRS 533.450(9). Appellant State Engineer timely filed his Notice of Appeal on May 23, 2016. JT APP 823. Accordingly, Appellant State Engineer's appeal is timely pursuant to NRAP 4(a)(1).

#### **II. ROUTING STATEMENT**

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(9), as it is a case involving an administrative agency appeal concerning the determination of an application to change the point of diversion of a pre-statutory vested water claim.

#### **III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

A. The State Engineer appeals the district court's determination that Proof of Appropriation No. V-10493 claiming a pre-statutory vested water claim was not abandoned.

///

-1-

- B. The State Engineer appeals the district court's decision to approve Rodney St. Clair's pending application to change the point of diversion pursuant to NRS 533.345 as being in excess of its constitutional authority set forth in Nev. Const. art. III, § 1.
- C. The State Engineer appeals the district court's decision to approve Rodney St. Clair's request to expand the record.

#### **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal arises from the district court's March 11, 2016, Order Overruling State Engineer's Ruling No. 6287, in which the district court overruled the State Engineer's determination that Proof of Appropriation No. V-10493, which claimed a pre-statutory vested water right, was abandoned. After determining the vested right was not abandoned, the district court rejected a remand to the State Engineer to consider Application No. 83246T to change the point of diversion of Proof of Appropriation No. V-10493, and instead ordered that Application No. 83246T be granted pursuant to NRS 533.345 without further analysis and review of the change application by the State Engineer. JT APP at 557-559.

-2-

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Rodney St. Clair (hereinafter referred to as "St. Clair") filed Proof of Appropriation No. V-10493 with the State Engineer, claiming a pre-statutory vested groundwater right located on property that St. Clair acquired in 2013 in the Quinn River, Orvada sub-basin. JT APP 043-047. The Quinn River, Orvada sub-basin is located in Humboldt County, Nevada, and is a fully appropriated basin that has not been subject to a full adjudication of the pre-statutory vested groundwater rights under NRS 533.090, et seq.<sup>1</sup> Because the Quinn Orvada sub-basin has not been adjudicated, River. Proof of Appropriation No. V-10493 is an unadjudicated claim that has not been quantified or decreed by a court under NRS chapter 533. St. Clair claims a vested right to groundwater, which, pursuant to NRS 534.080, requires the appropriation to have been initiated prior to March 22, 1913 (in the case of artesian or definable groundwater), or March 26, 1939 (in the case of percolating groundwater). The State

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Quinn River, Orvada sub-basin has combined perennial yield with the McDermit sub-basin, at 60,000 acre-feet annually. The Division of Water Resources has allocated 97,891.08 acre-feet annually in the Orvada sub-basin 033A and has allocated 5,595.16 acre-feet annually in the McDermit sub-basin 033B. *Available at* <u>http://water.nv.gov/data/underground/</u>.

Engineer determined that Proof of Appropriation No. V-10493 claimed a vested right to percolating groundwater, was thus subject to the March 26, 1939, cutoff date. JT APP 16.

Traditionally, the State Engineer does not review or analyze a claim to a vested right until an adjudication process is initiated. However, in addition to Proof of Appropriation No. V-10493, St. Clair also filed Application No. 83246T to temporarily change the point of diversion of Proof of Appropriation No. V-10493.<sup>2</sup> JT APP 038. As St. Clair applied for a temporary change of the point of diversion of his claim, the State Engineer examined St. Clair's claim to preliminarily determine the veracity of the claim prior to acting on the temporary change application.<sup>3</sup> JT APP 016.

In support of Proof of Appropriation No. V-10493, St. Clair provided land patents that showed that George Crossley obtained the underlying property from the United States government pursuant to

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  A point of diversion is the point from which water is diverted from its source, in this case, the location of the original well.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The public policy served by preliminarily examining an unadjudicated claim, which is serving as the base right to change application, is to avoid creating "new water" by granting a change application on a vested right that was either never established or was established in a lesser amount than claimed under the proof.

the Homestead Act in 1924. JT APP 049-053. As part of that land patent application, there was documentation that a well was located on the property and was used by Mr. Crossley to cultivate the land. Id. The well, which is still located on the property, has an 8-inch casing made from rolled thin metal with horizontal rivet seams, placed in short sections, which are connected with riveted collars. JT APP 054. This well construction method was used until the mid-1930s. JT APP 089-094. In addition, it appeared that the well was installed using a type of drill rig that was last manufactured in 1933. JT APP 110-113. Based on this evidence, the State Engineer concluded that St. Clair had established that his predecessor in interest, Mr. Crossley, had placed water to beneficial use prior to 1939, and thus this claim for a vested percolating groundwater right was likely valid. JT APP 017.

St. Clair had also submitted newspaper articles written by George Crossley; however, those articles were written after Mr. Crossley sold the property and did not directly mention the property. JT APP 081-084. The State Engineer did not consider them ///

-5-

relevant to prove that a vested water right was present; nevertheless, the other evidence supported the claim. JT APP 017.

Although the evidence in the record supports that a vested percolating groundwater right claim was established, there is very little evidence in the record to indicate that the owners of the property continued irrigating after 1924. As part of his claim, St. Clair submitted a 1954 aerial photograph that purports to show the property JT APP 115. was being irrigated. However, the State Engineer concluded that the photograph was inconclusive because it only showed one quarter of the property, and the photograph was not clear. JT APP 019. Furthermore, St. Clair failed to provide any evidence in the record that the property had been irrigated, or that the well had been otherwise used since 1954. Id. In Proof of Appropriation No. V-10493, St. Clair admitted that he was unaware of the last time any irrigation had occurred on the property or to what extent irrigation occurred. JT APP 047.

After his initial review, the State Engineer informed St. Clair of the lack of evidence of continued beneficial use of the water under the claim and requested St. Clair provide additional evidence on that point.

-6-

JT APP 116-117. St. Clair did not submit any additional evidence for the State Engineer to consider and merely resubmitted his original evidence which was inconclusive, and which admitted St. Clair was unaware when irrigation on the property last occurred. JT APP 019, 118-197.

In addition to the lack of evidence by St. Clair that continued beneficial use had taken place, St. Clair's photographs of the well demonstrated the well was not in a usable condition where the well casing was rusted through and had silted in. JT APP 086-087. The State Engineer concluded that this evidence showed that the "casing is unusable in its current condition and that it has gone unused for a significant period of time." JT APP 018. Moreover, the photographs show that at some point the pump was removed from the well, which would render the well useless. JT APP 086-087.

Based on this evidence, on July 25, 2014, the State Engineer issued Ruling No. 6827, concluding that St. Clair had established the existence of a vested groundwater right. JT APP 017. However, the State Engineer determined that the right had been abandoned by the intentional actions of the prior owners of the property who did not place

-7-

the water to beneficial use since at least 1954, had allowed the well to become unusable, and had removed the pump from the well. JT APP 017-021. As the water right was deemed abandoned, the State Engineer determined that change Application No. 83246T could not be granted because the base right (Proof of Appropriation No. V-10493) was no longer valid. *Id.* Thus, the State Engineer denied Application No. 83246T without analyzing the application on its merits of whether it met the statutory criteria for grant or denial. *Id.* 

Clair St. timely filed his petition for judicial review. The matter was briefed by February 27, 2015. JT APP 004-007. However, four months after filing his reply brief, St. Clair filed a request for judicial notice in support of his reply brief on June 2, 2015, which requested the district court take notice of various new documents, which were not part of the State Engineer's record on appeal. JT APP 430-556. The State Engineer opposed the request. JT APP 563-566. The matter was set for oral argument with Judge Montero on November 3, 2015. JT APP 587. At the designated time, Judge Montero disclosed two issues to the parties: (1) that he is a minority shareholder in Pine Forest Land & Stock Company, which has

-8-

had prior dealings with the Division of Water Resources, and (2) that the current State Engineer, Jason King, had engineered Judge Montero's log cabin many years ago prior to becoming State Engineer. JT APP 587; 557-559. Based upon the disclosures, the Court asked the parties if they had any objections to him hearing the matter. JT APP 587. State Engineer did not, but St. Clair requested recusal and Judge Montero recused himself. Senior Judge Steven R. Kosach was appointed to hear the matter and held oral arguments on January 5, 2016, in Carson City. JT APP 557-559. After hearing arguments by the parties, Judge Kosach ruled from the bench, granted the petition for judicial review and ordered St. Clair to prepare an order. JT APP 666-670.

On March 7, 2016, St. Clair provided a proposed Order Overruling State Engineer's Ruling 6287 to counsel for the State Engineer requesting comments or changes. JT APP 679. In the draft order, St. Clair included an order for the State Engineer to grant Application No. 83246T. JT APP 706-717. Counsel for the State Engineer advised St. Clair she objected to the Order as it was not in conformance with Judge Kosach's oral ruling and specifically objected to the inclusion of

-9-

the granting of Application No. 83246T. JT APP 681-698. St. Clair submitted the order without changes to the Court and the State Engineer filed his formal objection. JT APP 672-749. St. Clair filed a response and a hearing on the objection was held on April 11, 2016. JT APP 470-755. At the hearing on the objection, Judge Kosach adopted St. Clair's order, including the order to grant Application No. 83246T without any further review of the application by the State Engineer. JT APP 792-803.

#### VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should address the legal question of whose intent controls with respect to the abandonment of a water right in Nevada. The district court and St. Clair focused on the intent of St. Clair—the current owner of the claim, who by happenstance, discovered the disused well casing upon purchasing the property in 2013 and filed a claim of vested right on it. JT APP 047. However, the State Engineer, when issuing Ruling No. 6287, considered the intent of St. Clair's predecessors who failed to continue beneficially using the water since at least 1954, failed to maintain the well, removed the pump from the well and abandoned the water right. JT APP 017-021. Nevada law is silent regarding whose intent should control when determining if a water right has been abandoned. The Colorado Supreme Court has addressed this legal question holding that the intent of the party that abandoned the water must be addressed by the courts, not the intent of the current owner who is attempting to revive the water right. *See Haystack Ranch, LLC v. Fazzio,* 997 P.2d 548, 554 (Colo. 2000) (en banc); *Purgatoire River Water Conservancy Dist. v. Witte,* 859 P.2d 825, 833-34 (Colo. 1993); *Southeastern Colorado Water Conservancy District v. Twin Lakes Association, Inc., et al.,* 770 P.2d 1231, 1243 (1989) (en banc). This Court needs to similarly determine which party's intent controls in Nevada, with respect to abandoning a water right.

Additionally, the district court exceeded its constitutional authority when it ordered the State Engineer to grant Application No. 83246T without any analysis or review by the State Engineer in violation of NRS 533.345. Here, the State Engineer did not review Application No. 83246T on its merits because the State Engineer determined the base right had been abandoned. Therefore, the State Engineer did not address whether Application No. 83246T would conflict with existing rights or whether use of the water would threaten to prove detrimental to the public interest under NRS 533.345. Over the objection of the State Engineer, the district court ordered the approval of the change application. Furthermore, the district court, as part of its ruling from the bench, did not initially order the granting of this application or the various other statements the State Engineer objected to that were included in the order prepared by St. Clair. Rather, the district court inappropriately adopted St. Clair's order based upon a post hoc rationalization. The order, drafted by St. Clair, greatly expanded the district court's oral decision, which ultimately resulted in the district court violating the separation of powers doctrine by ordering the State Engineer to grant Application No. 83246T, rather than remand the application to the State Engineer for further action.

The district court also violated this Court's pronouncement that in water right appeals, the petitioner does not have a right to de novo review or to offer additional evidence at the district court. Here, the district court granted St. Clair's request for judicial notice which improperly expanded the record to include evidence outside of the record on appeal. *Revert v. Ray*, 95 Nev. 782, 786, 603 P.2d 262, 264 (1979). *See also Kent v. Smith*, 62 Nev. 30, 32, 140 P.2d 357, 358 (1943).

#### VII. STANDARD OF REVIEW ON APPEAL

Here, the legal question is in three parts: (a) did the district court improperly focus on the intent of the current owner of water right subject to abandonment; or, should the intent of the owner who abandoned the water right control; (b) did the district court exceed its constitutional authority by granting an application to change the point of diversion pursuant to NRS 533.345; and (c) did the district court err by granting St. Clair's request for judicial notice which improperly expanded the record in violation of NRS 533.450? Because questions of law and interpretation of statutory and constitutional authority are present, de novo review of the district court's order is proper. See, e.g., Gunderson v. D.R. Horton, Inc., 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 9, 319 P.3d 606, 616 (2014) (while a district court's decision is generally reviewed for abuse of discretion, where "as here, the decision implicates a question of law, the appropriate standard of review is de novo."); Milton v. State Dep't of Prisons, 119 Nev. 163, 164, 68 P.3d 895, 895 (2003) (where the district court applied the wrong legal standard, a pure question of law is raised, 111

///

subject to de novo review.); *Matter of Halverson*, 123 Nev. 493, 509, 169 P.3d 1161, 1172 (2007) ("We review purely legal issues, including issues of constitutional and statutory construction, de novo.").

#### **VIII. ARGUMENT**

A. The District Court Improperly Considered St. Clair's Intent To Revive A Vested Groundwater Right, Rather Than The Intent Of Prior Owners Who Abandoned The Right

Abandonment of a water right is the voluntary "relinquishment of the right by the owner with the intention to forsake and desert it." In Re Manse Springs, 60 Nev. 208, 108 P.2d. 311, 315 (1940). Abandonment is the union of acts and intent; and, under Nevada law is "a guestion of fact to be determined from all the surrounding circumstances." Revert v. Ray, 95 Nev. 782, 786, 603 P. 2d 262, 264 (1979); see also In Re Manse Springs, 108 P.2d at 316. As part of that factual review, nonuse for a prolonged period of time may inferentially be some evidence of intent to abandon. In re Determination of Relative Rights in & to Waters of Franktown Creek, Washoe County, 77 Nev. 348, 354–55, 364 P.2d 1069, 1072 (1961); In re Waters of Manse Springs, "Nevada law holds that abandonment of an 108 P.2d 311. appropriation of water for irrigation is a question of intention to be

evidenced by overt acts; but, when such overt acts appear, the right to appropriate water ceases and cannot be resumed as against intervening rights of others." *Anderson Land & Stock Co. v. McConnell, et al.*, 188 F. 818 (C.C.D. Nev. 1910). However, the question of whose intent to abandon the water rights is relevant, for the review has never been addressed in Nevada.

The district court ruled that "[t]he law is that you are not abandoning when you have the intent to revise [sic] the claim, when you have the intent to apply for the application, that shows that your intent is not to abandon." JT APP 667. However, the district court was incorrect, Nevada water law does not provide for or state that a subsequent purchaser, in Nevada, can revive a water right, through their intent alone. Rather it is silent. However, Colorado has addressed this important question of law.

As in Nevada, under Colorado water law, abandonment of a water right requires, in party, intent to abandon. *Allard Cattle Co. v. Colorado & Southern Railway Co.*, 530 P.2d 503 (Colo. 1974). In Colorado, intent may be shown either expressly or by implication, with nonuse for a long period of time being evidence of intent to abandon.

-15-

Upper Harmony Ditch Co. v. Carwin, 539 P.2d 1282 (Colo. 1975). Furthermore, nonuse alone will not establish abandonment where the owner introduces sufficient evidence to show that during the period of nonuse there never was any intention to permanently discontinue the use of the water. Parsons v. Fort Morgan Reservoir & Irrigation Co., 136 P. 1024 (Colo. 1913); Alamosa Creek Canal Co. v. Nelson, 93 P. 1112 (Colo. 1908). Nonuse can be manifested by conditions inconsistent with active use of a water right. Such conditions include failure to make beneficial use of water [and] failure to repair or maintain diversion structures." Haystack Ranch, 997 P.2d at 554; Twin Lakes, 770 P.2d at 1243; see also Knapp v. Colorado River Water Conservation Dist., 279 P.2d 420, 424 (Colo. 1955); Masters Inv. Co. v. Irrigationists Ass'n, 702 P.2d 268 (Colo. 1985) (where the evidence established that a headgate had not been replaced in at least 50 years, and that a ditch was in disrepair a finding by the water court that abandonment had occurred was not error; and evidence that water rights were not used because they were not needed is probative of the question of intent).

However, the Colorado Supreme Court has held that it considers the intent of the owner during the period during which abandonment allegedly took place, not the intent of a subsequent purchaser attempting to revive a water right. See Haystack Ranch, LLC, 997 P.2d at 554; Purgatoire River, 859 P.2d at 833-34; Twin Lakes, 770 P.2d at 1243. The Colorado Supreme Court has consistently held "that subsequent efforts by current owners to put water rights to beneficial use cannot revive water rights already abandoned by previous owners." Id. Furthermore, Colorado has upheld findings of abandonment by previous owners despite the activities of the current owner. See Twin Lakes, 770 P.2d at 1243. Colorado has adopted the view that such "activities constitute only an attempt to revive what was already dead." Id. at 1243 (quotation marks omitted).

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