Case No. 70458

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

JASON KING, P.E., NEVADA STATE ENGINEER, DIVISION OF WATER RESOURCES, DEPARTMENT OF CONSERVATION AND NATURAL RESOURCES,

APPELLANT,

VS.

RODNEY ST. CLAIR,

RESPONDENT.

Electronically Filed Jan 24 2017 11:36 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

RESPONDENT RODNEY ST. CLAIR'S ANSWERING BRIEF

PAUL G. TAGGART Nevada State Bar No. 6136 RACHEL L. WISE Nevada State Bar No. 12303 TAGGART & TAGGART, LTD. 108 North Minnesota Street Carson City, Nevada 89703 (775) 882-9900 <u>Paul@LegalTNT.com</u> Rachel@LegalTNT.com

Attorneys for Respondent Rodney St. Clair

NRAP 26.1 CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

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

⁴ Orr Ditch at 945, Alpine V at 1072.

proving abandonment by clear and convincing evidence.⁵ But here, the State Engineer directed St. Clair to prove he lacked intent to abandon the water right.

Accordingly, the district court properly ruled that the State Engineer applied the wrong rule of law and Ruling 6287 was, therefore, arbitrary and capricious. JA 668, 802.

C. <u>Colorado's Law of Abandonment Does Not Apply in Nevada.</u>

Rather than explain why the State Engineer misapplied the intrafarm transfer exception in *Alpine V* in this case, the State Engineer now relies on Colorado law to defend Ruling 6287. Specifically, the State Engineer claims that Colorado law limits the abandonment inquiry to look at the intent of historic owners and not the current owner. This approach should be rejected for the following five reasons.

1. <u>The State Engineer's Past Practice is Inconsistent with the</u> <u>Position Taken Here.</u>

The State Engineer has continuously, until now, taken the position that the present day intent of a water right owner can demonstrate the lack of intent to abandon a water right. The State Engineer has held that investigation of whether an

⁵ Kogan v. Silver King Mines, Inc., 108 Nev. 446, 833 P.2d 1141 (1992).

owner intended abandonment is a fact by fact analysis, stating, "[o]ne owner may have intended to abandon a water right and forsake the use of that water forever while another owner may not have the same intent." JA 428. Also, in 2011, the State Engineer relied on the present owner's intent to use a water right to overcome a claim that the water right was abandon. JA 370. Specifically, the State Engineer found:

The abandonment of a water right in Nevada is the relinquishment of a right with the intention to forsake it. Within the meaning of the term abandonment an intent to abandon is a necessary element. Non-use of a water right *is only some evidence* of an intent to abandon the right and does not create a rebuttable presumption of abandonment under Nevada law.

The State Engineer finds that Permit 12544 is in good standing and that the *[current] owner* of record Connolly has shown no intent to abandon the water right.

Id. (Emphasis added)

a. <u>Filing Change Applications</u>

The State Engineer has relied on the act of filing a change application by the current water right owner is evidence of the lack of intent to abandon a water right.

In 2011, the State Engineer issued Ruling 6177 and declined to declare a water right

abandoned because:

The Applicant has filed a change application to move the point of diversion to a well located on the Applicant's property to allow for easier access to the water. This is evidence that the Applicant does not intend to abandon its water right and seeks to ensure that the water can be placed to beneficial use as needed to supplement its surface water.

JA 399.

Also, in 2011, the State Engineer relied on the filing of a change application to reject a protestant's claim that nonuse of a water right since 1956 constitutes intent to abandon. JA 388. In that case, the sole evidence the State Engineer relied on to find lack of intent to abandon was that the applicant had filed change applications on the water right in 2011. Specifically, the State Engineer found "the Applicant's intent to place the water to beneficial use is evidence[d] by the filing of Applications 80453, 80454, 80455 and 80456 [sic]." *Id.* at 7; *see* JA 329-42 (finding that filing of extension of time evidenced an intent not to abandon a water right); JA 326 (same).

b. <u>Filing Title Document and Communicating with State</u> Engineer's Office

The State Engineer has historically found that the recordation of ownership of a water right is evidence of the lack of intent to abandon a water right. In Ruling 6191, the State Engineer relied on the lack title evidence to declare a water right abandoned. In that case, the State Engineer found that nonuse evidence, coupled with the fact that no conveyance documents or reports of conveyance had been filed on that water right, demonstrated intent to abandon. In Ruling 6191, the State Engineer also relied on the fact the record owner of the right had not communicated with the State Engineer for over 16 years. JA 411. *See* JA 383 (finding abandonment based on nonuse *plus* the fact "no entity or person has requested conveyance of the water right into the name of another water right holder in nearly 60 years" demonstrated an intent to abandon the water right); JA 373-76 (finding lack of report of conveyance transferring ownership of water rights for 20 years to be evidence of intent to abandon); JA 354-56 (same).

c. <u>Improvements to Wells</u>

In 1992, the State Engineer entered Ruling 3885 in which he rejected an abandonment claim because, despite an alleged period of nonuse from 1951 to 1973, the "[r]ecord further reflects the present owner of the permit attempted to replace the well in 1982 or '83 which further shows at least he never intended to abandon the right." JA 279.

Similarly, in 2010, the State Engineer declined to rely on the disrepair of works of diversion, as he did here, to find that abandonment had occurred because the water right owner expressed its intent to use the water to a State Engineer's employee during a 2009 field investigation. Specifically, the State Engineer stated:

The protest requests the State Engineer declare Permit 10105, Certificate 2695, abandoned. The abandonment of a surface water right in Nevada is the relinquishment of a right with the intention to forsake it. Within the meaning of the term abandonment an intent to abandon is a necessary element. Nonuse of a water right *is only some* evidence of an intent to abandon the right and does not create a rebuttable presumption of abandonment under Nevada law. At the field investigation, *permittee Lincoln expressed a continued interest in returning the pipeline or other works of diversion to operating condition.*

JA 360.

In Ruling 6083, the State Engineer had evidence that the works of diversion for the subject water had fallen into disrepair. But this evidence alone was not sufficient to make a finding of intent to abandon. In a sharp reverse of course, in this case the State Engineer relied heavily on the rusted condition of Jungo Ranch's well to infer the intended abandon.

Here, just as in Ruling 6083, the State Engineer should have concluded that in determining whether intent to abandon exists, a water right user's present day intent outweighs physical evidence related to the condition of the works of diversion. St. Clair filed the present applications and thereby evidenced a lack of intent to abandon these water rights. The State Engineer had evidence that title documents and reports of conveyance had been filed by the current owner, and that owner has had recent communications with the State Engineer's office. Therefore, the State Engineer's departure from past practice should be rejected because the present intent of a water right owner has always been relevant in Nevada for an abandonment determination.

2. <u>St. Clair is Not Reviving a Water Right.</u>

The Colorado law the State Engineer relies on applies when a water right owner tries to revive a water right. The State Engineer then claims the district court made a factual finding that St. Clair was reviving a water right. This claim is a complete fabrication.

The State Engineer argues "[t]he district court ruled that '[t]he law is that you are not abandoning when you have the intent to revise [sic] the claim, when you have the intent to apply for the application, that shows that your intent is not to abandon.' JA 667" Appellant's Opening Br. at 15. The district court never used the word revive and the transcript does not contain the word revive. The district court used the word *revise* which fits the context of the statement. On November 8, 2013, St. Clair filed a change application to change of the point of diversion of his vested water right. JA 038-039. The change application seeks to change, or *revise*, the existing right and move the point of diversion from the vested well to a nearby existing well. Also, the vested claim was later amended, or *revised* on December 6, 2013. JA 043-

115. The State Engineer's argument that relies on an altercation of the district court judge's words from the transcript (by using [sic]) should be stricken or disregarded.

Further, the State Engineer had thirty (30) days to review the district court transcript and suggest any changes at that time. *See e.g.* Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure 30(e). The State Engineer waived any right to contest the accuracy of the transcript at this time. *See e.g.* NRCP 32(d)(4), NRCP 80(c). The court reporter has already delivered certified copies of the transcript pursuant to Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure 9(c)(3).

3. <u>Nevada Water Law is more Protective of Vested Water</u> <u>Rights than Colorado Law.</u>

The Ninth Circuit, while applying Nevada law, found that Nevada is the only western state to maintain the position that there is no rebuttable presumption regarding the intent to abandon a vested right, and that Nevada has the right to assert this rule under the federal system. *Id.* The Ninth Circuit reviewed Nevada's 1999 amendment to NRS § 533.060(4) and stated, "Nevada has recently reaffirmed its commitment to a limited view of the law of abandonment." *Id.* Nevada's statutory clauses, coupled with long standing case law, led the Ninth Circuit to conclude that

no burden shifting exists under Nevada law when specifically applied to the intent element of abandonment. *Id*.

4. <u>Even If Colorado Applies, The State Engineer Has</u> <u>Interpreted It Incorrectly and it Should not Apply in Nevada.</u>

The State Engineer relies heavily on *Haystack Ranch*. Appellant's Opening The Colorado Supreme Court continually discusses an Br. at 11, 16, 17. "abandonment list" in Haystack. Haystack Ranch, LLC v. Fazzio, 997 P.2d 548 (Colo 2000). This is a list or tabulation of all water rights and conditional water rights in the state that the Colorado State Engineer has reviewed and may abandon after the passage of a ten year period. Colorado Revised Statutes ("CRS") § 37-92-401, 402. In addition to the tabulation of all the water rights in the state, CRS § 37-92-402(1)(a) requires that a division engineer prepare a separate list tabulating the water rights which have been abandoned in whole or in part. Id. The abandonment list is required to be available at the Colorado State Engineer's office and on the Colorado State Engineer's website. CRS § 37-92-401(2)(a). There are specific criteria the Colorado State Engineer is required to follow when adding a water right to the abandonment list. CRS § 37-92-402(11). Furthermore, the Colorado State Engineer is required to send, via certified mail, the abandonment list to the lastknown owner or claimant. CRS § 37-92-401(2)(b). For one decade after the mailing of the abandonment list, any party wishing to object to the tabulation of a water right on the abandonment list may object. CRS § 37-92-401(3). Parties may also protest an inclusion of their water right on the abonnement list. CRS § 37-92-401(5)(a). Only after one decade has past, and after notice, mailing, and review by the State Engineer, may the State Engineer then determine that a water right in Colorado is abandoned. CRS § 37-92-401(4). If a party protests or objects to the inclusion of their water right on the abandonment list, the water court is required to hold a hearing regarding the inclusion of the water right on the abandonment list. CRS § 37-92-401(6).⁶

Notably, Colorado statutory law also codifies the theory that a period of ten years of nonuse creates a rebuttable presumption of abandonment for the purposes of creating the division engineer's abandonment list. CRS § 37-92-402(11).⁷ This is entirely different from Nevada law. Clearly, there are constitutional reasons for this

⁶ Colorado has a specialized water court, unlike Nevada.

⁷ Compare to Nevada law, which distinctly states no rebuttable presumption exists re: non-use and abandonment of a water right.

extensive legislation regarding water rights in Colorado. *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 332 (1976). In Nevada, the legislature has not created a similarly compliant standard for the type of abandonment that the State Engineer is now requesting this Court to condone.

Clearly, pursuant to Colorado's extensive legislation, any subsequent purchaser of a water right is on constructive notice if a water right is on the abandonment list. This clear method, created by Colorado's legislature, helps protect real property water rights in the state. Nothing similar to the Colorado standards exists in Nevada. However, the State Engineer is now requesting this Court to adopt the consequences of Colorado's legislation without allowing for basic constitutional protections. Obviously, if Nevada's legislature wanted to implement the suggestions the State Engineer now proposes, it would have. Since the legislature did not adopt the same law as Colorado, this Court should reject the State Engineer's request to adopt Colorado's law.

Not only is the State Engineer's proposal to utilize Colorado law constitutionally improper, the proposal is not supported by public policy. First, the *sua sponte* application of Colorado law punishes a bona-fide third party purchaser of real property in Nevada. There is no abandonment list in this state. There is no

method for a subsequent or third party bona-fide purchases to be placed on notice regarding the possible abandonment status of the water rights appurtenant to real property. Presumably, the State Engineer's radical suggestion would affect the worth of the real property during appraisal and sale. Essentially, the State Engineer proposes that regardless of the third party bona-fide purchaser's intention, he now has the right to deprive the current owner of a real property right without hearing or notice.

The State Engineer also requests that this Court grant him the authority to abandon water rights after a water owner has paid the statutory fees to the State Engineer to prove the vested water right, or to move a water right. This is inherently improper. The State Engineer's proposed change in law would eviscerate due process rights regarding water rights; disrupt the current free market purchase and sale of water rights; possibly create in improper cloud on title, as no party would know if their water rights were in good standing; allow the State Engineer to stand in the place of legislature; and grant the State Engineer carte blanche to abandon water rights without review, checks or balances.

///

5. <u>The State Engineer's Reliance on Colorado law is a Post-hoc</u> <u>Rationalization.</u>

Any decision by the State Engineer must be defended based only on the evidence that he or his office relied on before the decision at issue was made. This principle was made clear by the Supreme Court in *Revert v. Ray. Revert*, 95 nev. At 787, 603 P.2d at 265. In *Revert*, the Court found fault with a district court that allowed the State Engineer to provide a "post hoc rationalization" of the decision that was under review. In *Revert*, the district court "looked to a post-review brief filed by the State Engineer to supply the missing findings." *Id.* This Court concluded "the [State Engineer's] brief, in short, was not a part of the record and, thus, should not have been considered [as such] by the district court." *Id.*

At no time, until now, has the State Engineer relied on Colorado law to support Ruling 6287. The State Engineer relied solely on Nevada law to support Ruling 6287 in that decision and in the briefs to the district court. The State Engineer's new attempt to apply Colorado law is a post hoc rationalization of his previous ruling and should be rejected.

///

///

II. <u>When the Proper Legal Standard for Abandonment is Applied,</u> <u>Substantial Evidence Does Not Support the State Engineer's Declaration</u> <u>of Abandonment.</u>

A. <u>The State Engineer Only Relied on Nonuse Evidence.</u>

As the State Engineer properly identified in Ruling 6287, abandonment may not be shown through nonuse alone.⁸ However, that is the only evidence that the State Engineer relied on when he reached his conclusion that St. Clair's water right was abandoned.⁹ St. Clair provided the State Engineer with voluminous evidence recording the water right since 1924. This began with the acquisition of the land and water by George J. Crossley in 1924 through the Federal Homestead Act. St. Clair further provided newspaper articles, probate orders regarding the water rights, photographs of well casing, a history of steel water pipe fabrication and design, and aerial photographs from 1954, 1968, 1975, 1986, 1999, and 2013 ("Aerial Photographs").

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